

THE UNITED REPUBLIC OF TANZANIA MINISTRY OF EDUCATION, SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY NATIONAL EXAMINATIONS COUNCIL OF TANZANIA

CANDIDATES' ITEM RESPONSE ANALYSIS REPORT FOR THE ADVANCED CERTIFICATE OF SECONDARY EDUCATION EXAMINATION (ACSEE) 2020

131 PHYSICS



THE UNITED REPUBLIC OF TANZANIA MINISTRY OF EDUCATION, SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY NATIONAL EXAMINATIONS COUNCIL OF TANZANIA



CANDIDATES' ITEM RESPONSE ANALYSIS REPORT FOR THE ADVANCED CERTIFICATE OF SECONDARY EDUCATION EXAMINATION (ACSEE) 2020

131 PHYSICS

Published by: The National Examinations Council of Tanzania P.O.Box 2624 Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.

© The National Examinations Council of Tanzania, 2020

All rights reserved.

Table of Contents

FOR	EWORD	iv
1.0	INTRODUCTION	. 1
2.0	ANALYSIS OF THE CANDIDATES' PERFORMANCE ON EACH QUESTION	2
2.1	131/1 Physics 1	. 2
2.1.1	Question 1: Measurement and Newton's Laws of Motion	. 2
2.1.2	Question 2: Uniform Circular Motion and Newton's Laws of Motion	.7
2.1.3	Question 3: Gravitation	10
2.1.4	Question 4: Projectile Motion	15
2.1.5	Question 5: Thermal Radiation and Thermodynamics	20
2.1.6	Question 6: Thermal Conduction	23
2.1.7	Question 7: Environmental Physics	26
2.1.8	Question 8: Current Electricity	29
2.1.9	Question 9: Logic Gates	34
2.1.10	Question 10: Operational Amplifiers	37
2.2	131/2 Physics 2	43
2.2.1	Question 1: Fluid Dynamics	43
2.2.2	Question 2: Vibrations and Waves	49
2.2.3	Question 3: Properties of Matter	52
2.2.4	Question 4: Electrostatics	56
2.2.5	Question 5: Electromagnetism	60
2.2.6	Question 6: Atomic Physics	65
3.0	ANALYSIS OF CANDIDATES' PERFORMANCE PER TOPIC	69
4.0	CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	70
4.1	Conclusion	70
4.2	Recommendations	70
Apper	ndices	71
Apper	ndix A	71
Apper	ndix B	72

FOREWORD

The National Examinations Council of Tanzania has prepared this Candidates' Item Response Analysis (CIRA) report for the Advanced Certificate of Secondary Education Examinations (ACSEE) 2020 to provide feedback to stakeholders such as students, teachers, parents, policy makers and the public on the performance of the candidates who sat for the Physics examination.

The Advanced Certificate of Secondary Education Examination marks the end of two years of Advanced Secondary Education. This summative evaluation among other things, shows the effectiveness of the educational system in general and the education delivery system in particular. Basically, the candidates' responses to the examination questions is a strong indicator of what the education system was able or unable to offer to students in their two years of Advanced Secondary Education.

The analysis presented in this report is intended to contribute towards understanding of reasons for the performance in Physics subject. The report highlights some of the factors that contributed to candidates scoring high marks. It also includes some of the factors which made the candidates fail to score high marks to some of the questions. The factors for failure include lack of knowledge about various concepts, poor background of mathematical skills and improper use of formulae and procedures to perform calculations.

The analysis provided in the report will enable educational stakeholders to identify proper measures to be taken to improve candidates' performance in the future examinations administered by the Council.

Lastly, the Council would like to express sincere appreciation to examination officers, examiners and all other members of staff who participated in the preparation of this report.

Dr Charles E.Msonde

EXECUTIVE SECRETARY

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This report analyses the performance of the candidates who sat for the Advanced Certificate of Secondary Education Examinations (ACSEE) 2020 in Physics papers 1 and 2. The papers were set to test the candidates' competencies and skills in different areas according to the 2010 syllabus to suit the 2019 examination format.

The 131 Physics 1 examination paper contained ten (10) questions grouped into sections A and B. Section A had seven (7) short-answer questions each carrying 10 marks. Section B consisted of three (3) structured essay type questions each carrying 15 marks. The candidates were required to attempt all questions in Section A and any two (2) questions from section B.

In contrast, Physics paper 2 had six (6) structured essay-type questions. The candidates were required to answer any five (5) questions. Each question carried 20 marks. Generally, all questions in both papers aimed at testing the candidates' skills and ability to comprehend, interpret and analyse data based on the demands of the questions.

A total of 17,045 school candidates sat for the examination. Among them, 15,631 (92.25%) passed the examination and 1,414 (7.75%) failed. In 2019, the number of candidates who sat for the Physics examination was 18,906. Among them, 16,768 (89.13%) passed the examination and 2,138 (10.87%) failed. This implies that the candidates' performance in this year has increased by 3.12 percent. The analysis of the candidates' performance in 2020 in grades as compared to the years 2019 and 2018 is summarized in Table 1.

				Gra	ades			
YEAR	A	В	С	D	Е	S	F	Total
2020	85	812	3,059	5,432	4,826	1,417	1,313	16,944
2019	50	683	2,771	5,496	5,920	1,848	2,044	18,812
2018	70	821	2,658	5,159	5,872	2,225	2,628	19,433

Table 1: Candidates' Performance in terms of Grades

In Table 1, many candidates attained Grades D (5,432), E (4,826) and C (3,059). However, 812 and 85 candidates attained Grades B and A respectively. This indicates improvements as compared to the past two years. The following section analyses the candidates' responses in relation to the demands of the questions. Brief notes on what the candidates were required to do and the reasons for their performance are provided. The samples of candidates' responses are also inserted to illustrate the cases presented. Also, graphs and charts are used to summarize the candidates' performance on the respective question.

However, the percentage of performance on each question is grouped into three levels based on the scores. The good, average and weak performance categories are in the ranges of 60 - 100, 35 - 59 and 0 - 34 respectively. Green, yellow and red colours are used to represent these categories respectively. Lastly, the report provides a conclusion and recommendations that may help to improve candidates' performance in future examinations.

2.0 ANALYSIS OF THE CANDIDATES' PERFORMANCE ON EACH QUESTION

2.1 131/1 Physics 1

This paper assessed 5 topics, namely Measurement, Mechanics (*Newton's Laws of Motion, Uniform Circular Motion, Gravitation* and *Projectile Motion*), Heat (*Thermal Radiation, Thermodynamics* and *Thermal Conduction*), Environmental Physics, Current Electricity and Electronics (*Logic Gates* and *Operational Amplifiers*). The first 4 topics were assessed in Section A which comprised 7 questions. Each question carried 10 marks. The last 2 topics were assessed in Section B, which consisted of 3 questions. Each question carried 15 marks. The analysis of each question is as follows:

2.1.1 Question 1: Measurement and Newton's Laws of Motion

This question had two parts: (a) and (b). Part (a) was constructed from the topic of Measurement. This part required the candidates to (i) apply the method of dimensions to derive an expression for the acceleration of a particle moving in a uniform circular motion and (ii) check the correctness of the equation, $\gamma = \frac{\text{hrJg}}{2\cos\theta}$, where; θ , J, r, g, γ and h are the angle of contact, density of liquid, radius of the tube, acceleration due to gravity, surface tension and the height of the liquid respectively. Part (b) was constructed from the topic of Newton's laws of motion. The part required

the candidates to calculate the tension in the cable which delivers the power of 23 kW when pulling a fully loaded elevator at a constant speed of 0.75 m/s.

A total of 17043 candidates, corresponding to 100 per cent attempted this question. Their scores were as follows: 31 per cent scored below 3.5 marks, including 9.4 per cent who scored 0 marks; 19.8 per cent scored from 3.5 to 5.5; while 49.2 per cent scored from 6 to 10 marks. These data reveal that the candidates' performance on this question was good because 69 per cent of them scored from 3.5 to 10 marks. Figure 1 illustrates the given information.



Figure 1: The candidates' performance on Question 1 in Paper 1

The analysis of the candidates' responses in this question revealed that most of them had a good understanding of the concepts of Measurement and Newton's laws of motion. In part (a), they used correctly the knowledge of dimensional analysis to derive an expression for the acceleration of a particle moving in a circle and to check the correctness of the given equation. Also they correctly applied the concepts of Newton's laws of motion to calculate the tension as presented in Extract 1.1.



(۵	X = hrJg
	2 (050
	[A] = 1 (Dimensionless.
	[J] = [M] = masi
	[L] ³ Volume
	$[J] = ML^{-3}$
	[r] = L
	$[9] = L^{-2}$
	$(Y) = AAI^{+1}T^{-2}TI$
	L length
	$[Y] = MT^{-2}$
1	(ii) $H_{eight}(h) = L$
	By using the principle of homogenity.
	Eqn:
	266
	Substitute the dimensions.
	$MT^{-2} = \left[L \right] \left[L \right] \left[ML^{-2} \right]$
	1
	$MT^{-2} = (L^3] (M L^{-3}] [T^{-2}]$
	-
	$MT^{-2} = MT^{-2}$
	· Com Hander Du Douis II
	the dimensions in the latt (1:4:5) depice the
	equation is dimensionally correct.
	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
	(b) Power; P = Workdone (W)
	Time (T).
	$P = r \times q \qquad F = Force$
	t a=distunce
	$P = F \times d$
	Ł
	$P = F \times V$
	But the force = lension.



Extract 1.1: A sample of the good responses in Paper 1.

Extract 1.1 indicates that the candidate responded correctly to each item by deriving an expression for the acceleration of a particle moving in a circle, checking the correctness of the given equation and applying the correct formulae and procedures to calculate the tension in the cable.

However, most of the candidates who scored low marks (31%) lacked knowledge about the concepts of Measurement and Newton's laws of motion. For instance, in part (a) (i), some of the candidates used these two concepts interchangeably to derive the formula for the acceleration of a particle moving in a uniform circular motion. In part (a) (ii), they failed to check whether the equation was correct or not because they didn't understood the dimensions of γ and $\cos \theta$. Some of these candidates used the dimensions of force (MLT^{-2}) instead of the dimensions of surface tension (MT^{-2}) . As an example, the other incorrect dimensions of surface tension given by the candidates were $(ML^{-2}T^{-2})$ and $(ML^{-1}T^{-2})$. In contrast, the candidates were supposed to understand that the dimensions of $\cos\theta$ is 1 since angle θ is a dimensionless variable. In part (b), most of the candidates used wrong the formula of Power = Work = Force x distance. instead of Power = Tension x velocity in calculating the tension in the cable. Extract 1.2 shows a sample response by a candidate who gave incorrect answers to each of the question items.



Extract 1.2: A sample of the poor responses in Paper 1

Extract 1.2 indicates that the candidate failed to deduce the concepts of Measurement and Newton's laws of motion as he/she used the concepts of circular motion instead of dimensional analysis to solve part (a) (i). In part (a) (ii), instead of checking whether the equation is correct he/she derived the formula leading to the incorrect response.

2.1.2 Question 2: Uniform Circular Motion and Newton's Laws of Motion

This question was divided into two parts: (a) and (b). Part (a) required the candidates to explain (i) why the outer rail of a curved railway track is raised over the inner and (ii) how a helicopter gets its lifting force based on Newton's laws of motion. Part (b) required them to determine the internal energy produced by a bullet of the mass of 10 g travelling horizontally at a speed of $1.0 \times 10^2 m s^{-1}$ which embed itself in a block of wood of mass 9.9×10^2 g suspended freely by two strings.

The analysis of data reveals that 100 per cent of the candidates who attempted this question, had the following scores: 44.7 per cent scored from 0 to 3 marks; 36.9 per cent scored from 3.5 to 5.5 and 18.4 per cent scored from 6 to 10 marks. These scores suggest that the candidates' performance on this question was average because more than one-third of them scored the pass mark or above. These data are summarized in Figure 2.



Figure 2: Distribution of candidates' scores on Question 2 in Paper 1

The average performance of the candidates was contributed to their ability to comprehend the demand of the question in part (a). These candidates explained why banking is crucial at a curved railway track. However, they failed to explain sufficiently the concept of lifting force of the helicopter based on Newton's laws of motion. Nevertheless, those who scored higher marks (6 - 10) were knowledgeable about the topic as they organized and analysed the concept by providing the correct responses to almost all parts of the question. Extract 2.1 is a sample answer from the script of one candidate who performed well on this question.

2.	a) i) This is to increase the maximum safety velocity for
	negotiating a corner around a curved railway.
	Raising outer rail than inner one creates an
	additional component of the weight of the track
	to the centripetal force whereas safety speed
	become greater than previous.
	11) From Newton's third law of motion, When blades of
	a helicopter rotates create an action force
	downward whereas an equivalent reachin force
	is created in upward direction and causing
	it to lift up.
	Also from second's Newton's law of motion, an upward
	force on a helicopter is due to the thrust given by
	rate of change of air circulating the helicopter
	Dlades
	tupura Vrdm => ASV, A-ana of blades
	at s-Density of air
	V-velocity of air.
2	b) Given
	mass, m = 109
	speed, $V = 1 \cdot X 10^2 \text{ m/s}$
	M_{block} , $M_{b} = 9.9 \times 10^{2} g$
	solution
ļ	From, principle of conservation of linear momentum
	Momentum before impact = momentum after impact
	let Ut be their final common velocity
	$mv + o = (m + m_b)V_{\downarrow}$

	-Initially
	Kinetic energy of the bullet, $E_B = 1 \text{ mbv}_2^2$
	2
	$= \frac{1}{2} \times 10 \times 10^3 \text{ kg} (1 \times 10^2 \text{ m})^2$
	= 50]
	KINGhe energy of block, Eblock = 12 MbUb
	= 1/2 × 9.9×101 H9 × 0
	= 0
	ET = 503 +0 -> 503
	Finally
	Total Kinetic energy of the system, ET = EB + Eblock
	$ET = 1 (M_B + M_{block}) V_1^2$
	$= 1/2 \times (10 \times 10^{3} \text{kg} + 9.9 \times 10^{-1} \text{kg}) (10 \text{kg})^{2}$
	$= 0.5\dot{2}$
2	Interal energy = change in kinetic energy
	= 501 - 0.51
	= 49.57
	The internal energy, $E = 49.53$

Extract 2.1: A sample of the good responses to Question 2 in Paper 1

In Extract 2.1, the candidate applied the concepts of circular motion and Newton's laws of motion to give the correct answers in part (a). In part (b), he/she correctly used the principle of conservation of linear momentum to determine the required internal energy.

In contrast, 44.7 per cent of the candidates scored low (0 - 3) marks. These candidates lacked knowledge of uniform circular motion and Newton's laws of motion especially to explain the importance of track banking around curves. For example, one candidate wrote *'outer rail of curved railway track is raised over the inner in order to allow expansion during hot'*. This candidate used the concept of thermal expansion of solids instead of providing the advantages of raising the outer rail of the curved railway track.

Similarly, in part (b), the candidates used the wrong concept to calculate internal energy. The candidates were first required to find the initial kinetic energy of the bullet, the common velocity of the system after impact and the final kinetic energy of the system using the principle of conservation of momentum. The difference between the initial kinetic energy and the final kinetic energy is the internal energy. Extract 2.2 shows one of the incorrect responses to the question.

20)	I In order to induce pressure and friction for thus
	also anable the train to change its motion and
	direction on the curued railway.
	ii) From the first newton law of motion, that states,
	"A body romain in rost or uniform motion until
	an orturnal force is acted upon it.
	Thu
	The holicopter propoden when turned on, that produce
	a force that oppoint the gravity that generated presum
	and onorgy this the holicopter gains motion.
5	[olution:
	Vb= (M+Mb)V.
	Mb
	Mr= Man of bullet' = 10g
	VE = Volacity of bullot = 1:0×10°4/1.
	M = 9.9 X100 g = Mais of block.
	V = VADRITY of BORK
	$\Lambda \Lambda H = (\Lambda + H H) V$
	MILLIN MALL
	$V = 100 \times 1000$
	$(q, q, \chi, 10^{+2}) + (1.0 \times 10^{2} M_{11})$
	V = 0.917 m/s

Extract 2.2: A sample of the incorrect responses to Question 2 in Paper 1

In Extract 2.2, the candidate provided wrong responses as to why the outer rail of the curved railway track is raised over the inner and how a helicopter gets its lifting force. In part (b), he/she applied the formula to find the final velocity instead of determining the internal energy produced by the bullet.

2.1.3 Question 3: Gravitation

Part (a) of this question required the candidates to find the gravitational potential at a point on the earth's surface if the values of universal gravitational constant, mass and radius of the earth are

 6.7×10^{-11} Nm²kg⁻², 6.0×10^{-24} kg and 6.4×10^{6} m respectively. In part (b), it was given that a communication satellite occupies an orbit such that its period of revolution about the earth is 24 hours. The candidates were required to (i) give the significance of this period and (ii) establish an expression for the radius R_0 of the orbit stating clearly the meaning of all the symbols used.

The question was attempted by 17,042 candidates corresponding to 100 per cent. Among them, 45.6 per cent scored from 0 to 3 of which 12.8 per cent scored 0 marks; 30.7 per cent scored from 3.5 to 5.5 while 23.7 per cent scored from 6 to 10 marks. These scores suggest that the general performance on this question was average since 54.4 per cent scored from 3.5 to 10 marks. The following bar chart illustrates the data.



Figure 3: The candidates' performance to Question 3 in Paper 1

The analysis of the candidates' responses shows that those who scored average marks (30.7%) performed well in part (a) as they computed correctly the gravitational potential at a point on the earth's surface. However, they provided unsatisfactory procedures for establishing an expression for the radius, R_o of the orbit in part (b). This was contributed by their failure to distinguish between an expression of gravitational force of attraction and the gravitational potential. The candidates were supposed to compare these two formulae to deduce an expression of R_o .

Concerning, the candidates who scored good marks (23.7%) they retrieved and applied the correct formulae and procedures to determine the gravitational potential at a point and establish the required expression for the radius of the orbit. Extract 3.1 is a sample of the good responses.

$$\frac{3}{9} \frac{9}{80} \frac{80}{10} \frac{1}{10} \frac$$



Extract 3.1: A sample of the good responses in Paper 1

In Extract 3.1, the candidate applied the concept of gravitational potential and packing orbit with regard to gravitation to provide the correct answers to the question.

Concerning those who scored low (0 - 3) marks, 12.8 per cent lacked knowledge of gravitation as they presented wrong responses to each tested item. Therefore, they scored 0 marks. In contrast, 32.8 per cent correctly answered few parts of the question. Also, part (b) (i) of this question challenged most of the candidates as they failed to state the physical meaning of the period taken by the satellite to revolve around the earth. For example, one candidate wrote 'the physical significance of this period, it results to day and night'. This shows that he/she lacked the knowledge of parking orbit. The candidates were supposed to understand that for easy communication, a satellite has to appear fixed in the sky such that its period of revolution has to be the same as that of the earth's rotation which is 24 hours. Thus the significance of the period was to show that the satellite is at a fixed position relative to the earth's rotational motion. In part (b) (ii), most of the candidates failed to sketch an illustrative diagram for easy interpretation of the given information in establishing an expression for the radius, R_o of the orbit. Extract 3.2 is a sample of the poor responses.



Extract 3.2: A sample of the incorrect responses to Question 3 in Paper 1

In extract 3.2, the candidate calculated the gravitational force of attraction instead of the gravitational potential. Also, he/she failed to state the physical meaning of the period, interpret and establish an expression for the radius.

2.1.4 Question 4: Projectile Motion

This question had two parts: (a) and (b). In part (a), it was given that an object falling freely from a given height, H hits an inclined plane at a height, h from the ground. If the direction of velocity of the object as a

results of the impact becomes horizontal, what would be the value of $\frac{h}{H}$ at

the time it reaches the ground? Part (b) required the candidates to calculate (i) the horizontal velocity of the ball and (ii) the total time of flight of the ball kicked with an initial velocity of 8.0 m/s such that, it just passes over the barrier which is 2.2 m high neglecting air resistance.

A total of 17,040 candidates equivalent to 100 per cent attempted this question. Their scores were as follows: 51 per cent scored below 3.5 marks, including 25.2 per cent who scored 0 marks; 31.4 per cent scored from 3.5 to 5.5 and 17.6 per cent scored from 6 to 10 marks. These data reveal that the candidates' performance on this question was average as 49 per cent of them scored from 3.5 to 10. Figure 4 is illustrative.



Figure 4: The candidates' performance on Question 4 in Paper 1

The analysis of the candidates' responses shows that, some of the candidates who scored average marks (31.4%) managed to establish the condition of the given task in part (a) and to apply mathematics skills to evaluate the value of $\frac{h}{H}$ at a time an object reaches the ground. However, a few of them failed to apply the correct formulae to determine the horizontal velocity of the ball and the total time of its flight. The candidates failed to interpret that the height (2.2 m) given in the question represents the maximum height attained

by the ball. They were supposed to apply the formula $h_{\text{max}} = \frac{v^2 \sin^2 \alpha}{2g}$ to first determine the angle of projection, α then the horizontal velocity by using the formula $v_x = v \cos \alpha$. The candidates who scored good marks (17.6%) explored their competence by presenting the condition of the given tasks and applied the correct formulae and demonstrated neat and precise procedures to obtain the required values. Extract 4.1 provides an example of the correct responses.



$$0 = -i (H-h)^{H_2} + Y_2 h^{-H_2}$$

$$\frac{1}{2} (H-h)^{-H_2} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{-H_2}^{-H_2}$$

$$\frac{1}{2} (H-h)^{-H_2} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{-H_2}^{-H_2}$$

$$\frac{1}{2} (H-h)^{-H_2} = h^{-H_2}$$

$$H = h + h$$

$$h = h$$

$$H = h + h$$

$$H = h + h$$

$$h = h$$

$$H = h + h$$

$$H = h + h$$

$$h = h$$

$$H = h + h$$

$$H = h + h$$

$$h = h$$

$$h = h$$

$$H = h + h$$

$$H = h + h$$

$$h = h$$



Extract 4.1: A sample of the good responses in Paper 1

Extract 4.1 indicates that the candidate applied the correct formulae and procedures to determine the required values in all items.

Though the performance of some candidates on this question was average, more than a half (51%) of the candidates scored low marks (0 - 3) including 25.2 per cent who scored 0 marks. These candidates lacked competence in retrieving and conveying the basic concepts of projectile motion to determine the required values. A further analysis indicates that, those who scored 0 marks in part (a) and (b) applied Newton's equations of motion with regard to linear motion instead of projectile motion to find the values of $\frac{h}{H}$, the horizontal velocity of the ball and the total time of its flight. These candidates were supposed to find the total time of flight by taking the sum of the time taken by the object to hit the plane $t_1 = \sqrt{\frac{2(H-h)}{\alpha}}$ and the time taken by the object to travel from the plane to the ground $t_2 = \sqrt{\frac{2h}{g}}$. Bearing in mind that the total time taken by the object to reach the ground would be maximum for height h if $\frac{dt}{dh} = 0$, the value of $\frac{h}{H}$ could easily be found. Moreover, it was noted that in part (b) they applied the vertical displacement equation $y = (v_0 \sin \theta) t - \frac{1}{2} g t^2$ instead of $h_{max} = \frac{v^2 \sin^2 \alpha}{2 \alpha}$ to find the angle of projection, the horizontal velocity and the total time of its flight. Extract 4.2 is a sample of the poor responses to the question.



Extract 4.2: A sample of poor responses to Question 4 in Paper 1

In Extract 4.2, the candidate failed to evaluate the values of $\frac{h}{H}$, horizontal velocity of the ball and the total time of its flight.

2.1.5 Question 5: Thermal Radiation and Thermodynamics

In part (a), the candidates were required to give evidence for the validity of the first law of thermodynamics. Part (b) required them to (i) explain what would happen on a black body when it is constantly heated based on Wien's displacement law and (ii) estimate the rise in temperature of the gas if 60 Joules is supplied to 2 moles of the helium gas placed inside an insulated container of a fixed volume.

The question was attempted by 17,044 candidates corresponding to 100 percent. Among them, 75 per cent scored from 0 to 3 marks; 17.1 per cent scored from 3.5 to 5.5 while only 7.9 per cent scored from 6 to 10 marks. These scores suggest that the general performance on this question was weak. The following bar chart is illustrative.



Figure 5: The candidates' performance on Question 5 in Paper 1

The analysis of data reveals that three quarter (75%) of the candidates attained unsatisfactory performance (0 - 3 marks). These candidates provided incorrect responses to most items. The noted challenges in their responses include their lack of knowledge about establishing the first law of thermodynamics in connection with its applications in real life. In part (a), a few candidates incorrectly listed the types of thermodynamic processes like isothermal, isochoric and adiabatic while others provided wrong responses. Another challenge was in part (b) (i); where the candidates failed to retrieve the applications of Wien's displacement law of

black body radiation $\left(\lambda_m \propto \frac{1}{T}\right)$ in daily life. They lacked the knowledge that when a black body is constantly heated, its temperature increases with the emission of radiations of smaller wavelength and so higher energy is given out such that there is a colour change from red to white. For example, when iron is heated, it first becomes light-red, dark-red, then yellow and ultimately white. In part (b) (ii) most of them failed to apply the First law of thermodynamics to estimate the rise in the temperature of the helium gas. Extract 5.1 shows a sample of the incorrect answers.

05(a) Evidence for the validity of first law of themodynamic:
5/ Adiabatic procest. T
ii) I sothermal process.
mil Isochonic owcess
iv/Isobanic process.
(b) if from Ween's displacement law which state that "The max
mum energy radiated by the maximum wave length is constant ".
2 Amaxo - Constant
Emax
When the black body is heate constantantly if absorb-
all the radiant energy falling on it because the maximu
mum energy is also radiated by the constant loated body
ii/ Data given
Energ (E) = 60 Joutes,
No of hules (m) = 2 Moles!
Temperature = ?
dronu
$Q = 0 C_V R ST$
since for 2 nules CV2 3/2 K 1
Len DT - Q
nc _v
<u>n % k.</u>
<u> </u>
QX-6X X'SI
·· I be remperature af a gass = 0.9K

Extract 5.1: A sample of the incorrect responses to Question 5 in Paper 1

In Extract 5.1 the candidate provided types of thermodynamic processes as evidence for the validity of the first law of thermodynamics. He/she also stated the Wien's displacement law instead of explaining the effect occurred on a black body when constantly heated.

Despite the weak performance on the question, a further analysis indicates that the candidates who scored good marks (7.9%) demonstrated a good understanding of thermal radiation and thermodynamics. For example, in part (a), most of them showed how the first law of thermodynamics obeys the law of conservation of energy. Similarly, they applied Wien's displacement law in part (b) (i) to explain the effect occurred on a black body when constantly heated. Extract 5.2 illustrates a good response.

r	(a) Crat law of the law in
5.	The mody namices is
	Validity Since it obeys the Law of
	Conservation of Energy, ie That U
	onergy is Conserved.
	Heat supplied = Internal Energy of
	Extend workdone.
	(D. Q. mien's displacement law'
	X X L
	So when the brand body is constructed
	Constrative boated its waveloatte will
	the short is a learning of the
	Llouis Colore altable at an to day
	Black cour slightly enanges to brown,
5	(b) (b) · Data
	amout of heat supplied (Q)= GOT
	Number of Males (He) = 2 Males.
	trom
	U = DU + Pav
	Since Constat White
	Panzo.
	() - O But I I I I
	with the for helius
	WZ-2R.
	WEINKOT .



Extract 5.2: A sample of the good responses to Question 5 in Paper 1

In extract 5.2, the candidate correctly applied the formulae and procedures in parts (a) and (b) (i & ii).

2.1.6 Question 6: Thermal Conduction

Part (a) required the candidates to explain (i) why it is preferred to purchase a cooking utensil of low specific heat capacity and (ii) how a fish survives in a pond during an extreme winter season even if the pond is deep frozen on the surface. In part (b), it was given that the ice on a pond is 10 mm thick. If the temperature above and below its surfaces are 263 K and 273K respectively, calculate the rate of heat transfer through the ice.

A total of 17,044 (100%) candidates responded to the question and the distribution of their performance is illustrated in Figure 6.



Figure 6: Distribution of the candidates' scores on Question 6

Figure 6 shows that the performance on this question was average since 46.9 per cent scored from 3.5 to 10 marks while 53.1 per cent scored below 3.5 marks.

The analysis of good performance (15.7%) show that most of such candidates managed to apply the Kinetic theory of matter to describe the application of thermal conduction in domestic activities. These candidates

gave correct reasons why it is preferred to purchase a cooking utensil of low specific heat capacity and how a fish survives in a pond during an extreme winter season. However, few of them failed to apply coefficient of thermal conductivity under a steady state condition to determine the rate of heat flow through ice. Extract 6.1 presents a correct response.

06.	a) (i) Its prepared to purchase a Cooking Utervil of low
	Specific heat aparty because little amount of heat energy
	become prough to raise its temperature therease the Cooking
	process been me easy and part. Also the utervil take imal
	time interval to love heat when removed from the heat
	Source
	Unlike Utenil with low Speapiz heat Capacity, that op
	high specific heat corouty take long time and demand
	much heat energy to vails its temperature, then to raise temp-
	entire of pord being cooked. Therefore take long time
	cook the food.
	(ii) A tigh Survive In a pond during an extreme winter
	Seation even if the poind is deep prozen on the Jurpace
	because of the property of water Called anomolous expansion
	or water. It's the property that that the density of
	water become maximum when the Temperature 15 4°C.
	Therefore because of this proporty, water beneath (at the
	boltom) remain liquid water while at the Top 1s ice orthing
<u>6</u>	b) Data given
	Thickness (X) = AU mm
	Temperature above (TI = 263 K
	Temperature below (T) = 273K
	Required to determine hast transper through re-
	Hom
	$H_{L} = -kAdq But k = 2.3 M K^{-1} W$
	$f_{1} = 2^{1/3} \times (2^{1/3} - 2^{0/3}) +$
	A = 2500 A W
	: Rate q hast Transper through the Ice to 2300A W
	where A - the area of a Suffice of ize.

Extract 6.1: A sample of the correct responses in Paper 1

Extract 6.1 shows that the candidate correctly explained why cooking utensils of low specific capacity are more preferred and how a fish can

survive in frozen water. He/she also managed to apply the correct formula to find the rate of heat flow.

However, more than a half (53.1%) of the candidates scored below 3.5 marks. The analysis on the scripts of those who scored 0 marks (11.7%) show that they failed to provide correct answers due to inadequate knowledge of heat transfer particularly of thermal conduction. For example one candidate explained that 'a cooking utensil of low specific heat capacity can increase heat energy to higher amount and therefore increase the wastage of heat to the surrounding'. Such a candidate lacked the knowledge that a cooking utensil of low specific heat capacity is preferred to ensures that little heat is used to raise its temperature; therefore, more heat would be transferred to the vessel.

Another observed challenge was to apply the concept of anomalous expansion of water. They faced difficulty in explaining how the fish survives in a deep frozen pond. For instance, one candidate wrote *'the fish survive in deep frozen pond because it does not allow internal heat to leave in water by convection by using its scales and also a fish absorb a lot of oxygen and store at gills'*. In fact, during an extreme winter season, the temperature at the surface of water is about 0 $^{\circ}$ C due to low density while at the bottom it remain 4 $^{\circ}$ C because of high density. Therefore fish sinks to the bottom for it to survive. Extract 6.2 illustrates an example of the poor responses.

God is Low Specific heat capacity is important
Since the utensils tend to gain
heat for along period of fime and also
keeps such heat with out last for
along period of time also.
- There fore The cooking utensil with
low he specific heat capacity they keep
heat for long period of time.
6(1) ii) The fish can furf survive down
the pond even if the upward is frozen
because below the pond there is temperature
which is normal for figh to survice not as
in the Surface of the pond.



Extract 6.2: A sample of the incorrect responses in Paper 1

In Extract 6.2, the candidate provided incorrect responses in part (a). In part (b), he/she applied the wrong formula to determine the rate of heat flow.

2.1.7 Question 7: Environmental Physics

This question had two parts: (a) and (b). Part (a) required the candidates to elaborate (i) two solutions for thermal pollution and (ii) three disadvantages of tidal energy. In part (b), they were required to identify three constituents of outer zone of the earth.

The question was attempted by 17044 (100%) candidates. The performance on the question was average since 53.9 per cent scored above 3 marks. The percentage of the candidates who scored from 0 to 3 marks was 46.1. These data are summarised in Figure 7.



Figure 7: Distribution of candidates' scores on Question 7 in Paper 1

Data analysis reveals that, the overall performance on this question was average as 53.9 % of the candidates scored 3.5 marks or above. The candidates who scored high marks (27.2%) had a good understanding of environmental pollution and the effects caused by wave energy (tidal energy) to humankind. Most of these candidates competently elaborated the methods of controlling pollutants in the environment and the disasters caused by tidal energy. However, some of those who scored 3.5 to 5.5 marks (26.7%) failed to classify three components of outer zone of the earth and its contents. Extract 7.1 is a sample of the correct responses.

7.	(a) (i) belydoni
	(a) A Cooling tower nothed. He hat toric
	ager from the industries are collected in the
	Colina to La Colinit before peleasion
	to the stars charge
	in almorate
	(b) A Coling band wated ; the hat water
	liquide two inducties can be allested if a
	Regist Pard til are it is cooled hole a hai a
	differend is provident of strong
	(ii) Drughtatala
	(1) Killing lat al caught areasing die t
	the most of dynamic organistic curry
	the It districtly the natural microtan mutan
	Les to and acception of the second in the second second acception of the second
	(a) I is propulsion is the a all projects in a
	indultation
	(vy ta((a))01,
	(b): Posto 2010 - Pilo on His los
	is the of the end of all water halfes
	CO TIVE TO THE OF ALL SALE BOLLES
	Poind on the Earth Under a lander
	The Rivelan a Mr. Aubien all lite accounts
	home of the contract of thing of gundry
	provent off the Earth's Ourfale.
	A Land Da and D M 25 D and D come I
	and the of the of the of the proper that
	assure the function and all

Extract 7.1: A sample of the correct responses in Paper 1

In Extract 7.1, the candidate provided the correct solutions for thermal pollution, demerits of tidal energy to the environment, and three constituents of outer zone of the earth.

Despite the average performance on the question, some of the candidates (46.1%) scored from 0 to 3 as they gave incorrect responses to most parts of the question. In part (a), for example, instead of providing ways of controlling thermal pollution, one candidate incorrectly wrote gases like H_2SO_4 and HNO_3 , which pollute the environment. This candidate lacked knowledge of the types of environmental pollutants and their methods of disposal.

A further loss of marks in this question was attributed to inadequate competences in the concepts of energy from the environment where many candidates (10.4%) scored 0 marks. These candidates failed to assess the hazards of energy from sea wave to the environment. For instance, one candidate mentioned three disadvantages of tidal energy: *it cause diseases, migration of people* and *heavy rain.* Extract 7.2 shows an incorrect response to the question.

7	(a) H2504, This is produced during volcanic erreption
	where they are released to the atmosphere causing
	Varian pollations.
	HA HNOR TI'S & produced during believe alles
	1-1. Mar is practiced during regimming as have
	t in all'
	to various pollution
764)	(ii) Cause death to people.
	(ii) Truse diseases
	(iii) Drought may algo arcse tue to todal every mothe
	Braunda
	growie
7	(b) Coust, This is the outermost zone of the earth's Inface
	where it consist of seal and sering as its
	Component.
	Mantle This tayer is Found between the court and
	The The Insist of upper a metho and haven
	the
	ມນອນໄດ້ ເ
	Lote ; this layer is found in the innermost of the ear
	this crust. It consist of inner core and
	oufercore.

Extract 7.2: A sample of the incorrect responses in Paper 1

In Extract 7.2, instead of giving measures of controlling thermal pollution the candidate wrote ammonium (HNO_3) and hydrogen sulphate (H_2SO_4) gases, which are not environmentally friendly. In part (b), the candidate wrote *crust, mantle* and *core* which are inner parts of the earth instead of hydrosphere, atmosphere and biosphere as required by the question.

2.1.8 Question 8: Current Electricity

This question had three parts: (a), (b), and (c). In part (a), the candidates were required to (i) state how a step-up transformer differs from a stepdown transformer and (ii) explain why the transmission of electricity is always done at the highest possible voltage. Part (b) (i) required the candidates to find the value of the resistance required to give a charging current of 2 A on an accumulator of e.m.f 50 V and internal resistance 2 Ω when it is charged on a 100 V d.c source. In part (b) (ii), the candidates were given a figure which shows a circuit for measuring the resistance of wire Q which is kept at a constant temperature. Then, they were required to identify the devices labelled M₁ and M₂ and state their functions.



Part (c) required the candidates to (i) explain why alloys are used for making standard resistance coils and (ii) determine the temperature coefficient of resistance and its resistance at 0^{0} C of a coil of wire of resistance 10.8 Ω at 20 0 C and 14.1 Ω at 100 0 C.

A total of 7,978 (46.8%) candidates answered this question. Among them, 50.8 per cent scored from 0 to 5 marks; 33.5 per cent scored from 5.5 to 8.5; and 15.7 per cent scored from 9 to 15 marks. These data reveal that the general performance on this question was average. Figure 8 summarizes these results.



Figure 8: The candidates' performance on Question 8 in Paper 1

According to the analysed responses from the scripts, the candidates who scored good marks (15.7%) correctly analysed the mechanisms for electric conduction in metals. They stated correctly how a step-up transformer differs from a step-down transformer and the reason behind the transmission of electricity always being done at the highest possible voltage. Moreover, they studied the given circuit diagram and correctly identified the names of devices labelled M_1 and M_2 with their functions.

A further analysis show that the candidates who scored average marks (5.5 - 8.5) managed to provide the correct responses for part (a) and (b), but they failed to investigate the temperature coefficient of resistance and hence the resistance. Extract 8.1 is one of the correct responses to the question.

8	a)	·
	step-up transformer	Step down transformer
i)	Have higher number	Have higher primary
	of turn of secondary than	number teun compare
	that of primary	to that of secondary
	, , ,	
ù)	secondary voltage is	primary voltage is
	greater than that of	areater than that
	primary voitage	of secondary voltage

in from

$$p = J^{2}R^{2}$$
The power is transmitted at higher
boilage so as to derease the value of
(users in the cable which depend in J²
b) i)
46
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47
47


Extract 8.1: A sample of the correct responses in Paper 1

In Extract 8.1, the candidate correctly provided distinctive characteristics between the two types of transformers, systematically analysed electrical networks and deduced Kirchhoff's voltage law to determine the required resistances and temperature coefficient of resistance. He/she also identified the devices and stated their functions.

Among the 50.8 percent of the candidates who scored (0 - 5) marks, 5.2 percent scored 0 marks. These candidates lacked knowledge of electric conduction in metals. Others faced challenges in attempting parts (b) and (c). In part (b), they failed to understand the concept of charging and the skills in how the ammeter (M₁) and the voltmeter (M₂) are connected in the circuit. Accordingly they confused the names of these two devices. In part (c), most of them failed to understand that alloys are suitable for making standard resistance coils because they have high resistivity and low value of temperature coefficient of resistance. Moreover, instead of applying Kirchhoff's laws to determine the values of resistance they used Ohm's law. Extract 8.2 represents a sample of the incorrect responses to the question.

8. a is step-up transformer des differ
from step-down fransformer in the number
of coil the transformer having inwhich
for set-up transformer has few number of
Coil comparing to step down transformer
(i) Transmission is done at the highest
Possible voltage because & in the
electric appliance there is internal
resistance and from Ohm's law voltage
is inversely proportional to resustance
hence It is done in order to over come
resistance of the appliances.

b i) Data given, accumulatorenif = SOV. 8 d'i Source Emif = LOON. Resistance = 7 & current required = 2A. but from, V = IR. R=7- $R = \frac{V}{T} = \frac{50}{2} = \frac{25}{25} \frac{A}{25} \frac{A}{25}$ is To identify the device. MI=voltmeter which is used to Measure entif produced by the Current Source. M2 = Elavanometer, which is Purposely to Show polarization of the Current. C(i) Alloys are used purposely do not have Specific and fixed resistance but both all the metals in an alloye expresses their resistance hence Such modifies and offers the Stan derclized resistance. 8 80 iij Data given. Registance (Ri) 10.81 temperature (T= 20°C. Resistance (R2) = 14.1 R Temperature (Ta) = 100 c. Tenperature at O'C the resistance will be = 7 But is known that R & Te. Resistance RX Temperature (T)



Extract 8.2: A sample of the incorrect responses in Paper 1

In Extract 8.2, the candidate partially stated the difference between the step-up transformer and the step-down transformer for item (a) (i) and applied incorrect formulae in parts (b) and (c). Therefore, he/she obtained the wrong responses.

2.1.9 Question 9: Logic Gates

Part (a) required the candidates to state the function of (i) digital circuit and (ii) integrated circuit. In part (b), the candidates were required to (i) identify three basic logical gates that make up all digital circuits and (ii) construct the truth table from the logic gates shown in the following figure.



In part (c), the candidates were given a figure which shows a circuit symbol of a logic gate and two input waveforms, X and Y, as follows:



The candidates were then required to (i) give the name of the circuit symbol and (ii) sketch the output waveform Q.

The question was answered by 15,889 candidates, which correspond to 93.2 per cent. The analysis reveals that 38.9 per cent of the candidates scored from 9 to 15 marks; 47.7 per cent scored from 5.5 to 8.5; and 13.4 per cent scored from 0 to 5 out of 15 marks. These data are summarised in Figure 9.



Figure 9: Distribution of the candidates' scores on Question 9, in Paper 1

Figure 9 indicates that the general performance of the candidates on this question was good since 86.6 per cent of the candidates scored 5.5 to 15 marks.

The candidates who scored good marks (38.9%) stated the roles of digital and integrated circuits in electronic systems. They also identified the basic types of logic gates and applied Boolean Algebra to analyse the given logic circuit and create logical truth table. In addition, about 1.2 per cent corresponding to 195 candidates, scored (14.5 - 15) marks. These

candidates showed their competence in part (c) where they correctly described two input waveforms X and Y to identify the output waveform Q. Extract 9.1 illustrates a sample of the correct responses.

9	(a) (i)	D	igita	f ci	reuit	t are	used	to	perfo	rm diserte
3	opera	tions	i, J.	ner	11	iey e	operate	rn	form	of
	0	and	j . 1	implu	, d	igital	Circui	fi b e	rforms	binary
	opera	tions	•							
		1	1	had		4 -	-			10.0
	(11)	(1)	regro		ere	uir a			perto	ming
	many		rerati	1000	ar	ti	in the	em. They	can	behave
	as	Jusit	ch, a	melit	ier.		10 410	J	(u)	
-	C1.2.2.				Ν					
4	(6) (1)		AND	- ga	te .		Are 44.00 (0.000)			-
				-						
		4	a			<u> </u>			2010-001-000-00	
		•	<i>D</i>	1						
		-	OR .	- ga	e.					
			X	5			r			
			B	2						
a	m.		<u>е</u>							
9	00	Н	01-	gate	•					
		Ă								
			>	\geq		_ C				
		t t	2	/						
					-					
9	(b) (ii)		·							
		A	B	Ā	B	c ¹	c	1		
		0	0	·1:	1.	0.	1.			
		0	1	1.	D	1.	4			
		1	0	0	1	0	1			
		١	1	0	D	0	0			
a	Ci	the						and a		8.1D -1
1	010	ine	<u> </u>	recut	34	mool	n teprese	anti a	n ha n	AND-gate
	(1)									
						1	T			
	6									
				1						
	@			1 1			<u> </u>			
		af	recte	or b	<u>j (</u>	ogical	conchio	n &A	μp ι	where I have
	one (e	00)	<u></u>		un	50 D94	1 10	pur and	7 Ou	tput are
	Une C	- /								

Extract 9.1: A sample of the correct responses in Paper 1

Nevertheless, 13.4 per cent of the candidates scored low (0 - 5) marks. Most of these candidates had a misconception between digital circuit and integrated circuit in part (a). Therefore, they failed to state its functions. Some of them also faced challenges in part (b) where they failed to construct the truth table from the given logic gates due to poor knowledge of applying Boolean operations. Furthermore, instead of identifying OR, AND and NOT as the basic logic gates, some wrote NAND and NOR gates which are combinations of the basic gates.

Part (c) was the most difficult to many candidates in this group. They failed to analyse the logic circuit due to two input waveforms, X and Y to sketch the output waveform, Q. Extract 9.2 presents a sample of the incorrect responses.



Extract 9.2: A sample of the incorrect responses in Paper 1

In Extract 9.2 the candidate failed to clarify the roles of digital and integrated circuits. In addition, he/she provided incorrect responses to other parts of the question.

2.1.10 Question 10: Operational Amplifiers

Part (a) of this question required the candidates to (i) identify four important properties of semiconductor and (ii) find the donor concentration given that the mobility of electrons is $0.39 \text{ m}^2/\text{volt}$ sec and the resistivity of n-type germanium at room temperature is 0.01Ω m. Part (b) required the candidates to (i) give the output voltage of the circuit diagram in the

following figure when L is connected to M and (ii) explain how the circuit can be used as a switching circuit.



In part (c), the candidates were required to briefly explain the transfer characteristic of operational amplifier.

Data analysis reveals that 10,219 candidates, equivalent to 60 per cent attempted this question. Among them, 77.6 per cent scored from 0 to 5 marks; 19.6 per cent scored from 5.5 to 8.5 marks; and 2.8 per cent scored from 9 to 15 marks. These scores imply that the candidates' performance on this question was weak. Figure 10 summarizes the statistical analysis of this question.



Figure 10: Distribution of the candidates' scores on Question 10 in Paper 1

Figure 10 shows that a large number of candidates (77.6%) scored from 0 to 5 marks. One of the factors noted to affect performance was their lack of adequate knowledge about semiconductors and transistors. Most of these candidates faced difficulty in identifying the relationship between resistivity and conductivity. Hence they failed to determine the donor concentration. For illustration, one of the candidates wrote,

"semiconductors are transparent in nature, allows partially light to pass through". Besides, in part (b), most of them did not understand how the transistor can be used as a switch. Moreover, in part (c), they failed to describe the transfer characteristic of the operational amplifier. Extract 10.1 is a sample of the incorrect responses.

Four y semiconductor. 0 mourna (9) used Somiconductor measure Impunh (ò Semiconductor for merind current in the coravil nied (m). Determine Ale nature of the materia (W) Semi germanium beat eiller condrat an Gmi AND (15 Conda Conductor. wm one Data girn n. Restitivity PE 0.01 0m Amen doner concentra mulitim y pleans 0.39 m/ w/b = 0.39 m2/volts. he = -1, 6x1579c 0 BR harge have ta loir n-ture comprated -Pu hile esusine etm nh20. nh nha Ŧ E=

10 (G)
1
$$E = \beta (ale ne).$$

1 $E = \beta (ale ne).$
 $E = 1$
 $Coolx (0.34x - 1.6x 10^{-19}c).$
 $E = 1$
 $Coolx (0.34x - 1.6x 10^{-19}c).$
 $E = -1.6 x 10^{-19} x v$
but
 $1ev = 1.6 x 10^{-19} x.$
 $2 = 1ev x - 1.6 x 10^{-19} x.$
 $1ev = 1.6 x 10^{-19} x.$
 $1ev = 1.6 x 10^{-19} x.$
 $x = -1.6 x 10^{-19} x.$
 $x = -2.56 x.$
 $x = -2.56 y.$
 $x = -2.56 y.$
 $x = -2.56 y.$
 $x = -2.56 y.$
 $x = -2.56 y.$

Extract 10.1: A sample of the incorrect responses in Paper 1

In Extract 10.1 the candidate provided incorrect properties of semiconductors and used wrong formula to determine the donor concentration and output voltage.

Further, the performance of the candidates who scored average (19.6%) marks was attributed to their ability to comprehend the demand of the question in part (a). These candidates managed to state four important properties of semiconductors and calculate donor concentration based on the relationship between resistivity and conductivity. However, they failed to interpret the transistor circuit to examine the output voltage and explain how it could act as a switch.

Nevertheless, the candidates who scored good marks (2.8%) were conversant with the topic as they correctly organized and analysed the given concepts. Extract 10.2 is a sample of the correct responses to the question.

10(2)	(i) - Is made up of covalent bonds.
	- It has negative temperature coefficient of
	resistance
	- Its conductivity is largely altered on the
	addition of the impunities
	- Its conductivity lies between that of the
	conductors and those of insulators.
10(a)	(")
	lesistivity (G) = 0.01 fm.
	conductivity of the semiconductor will be
	Lesistivity 0.01
	$0 = 100 \ \Omega^{-1} m^{-1}$
10(a)	(ii) The conductivity & = D. Mere.
	$e = 1.6 \times 10^{-19} c$
	$n_e = 6$
	lle.e.
	Ule = 0. 39m² / see
	$e = 1.6 \times 10^{-19}$
	Re = 100
	0.39×1.6×10-19
	Re = 1.603 X102/m3
	donor concentration is 1.603×1021/m3

1 o(b)	(i) When h is connected to M, the output
	voltage will be OV
	Reason: When L Bs connected to M, the
	supply voltage will provide the base bias voltage
	enough to produce the base current, that will
	cause the transistor to reach the saturation point
	where collector current is maximum. Thus voltage
	drop across & will be maximum approximately equal
	to V_{cc} and $V_{o} = OV$.
	<u> </u>
	(11) The circuit can be used as the switching
	circuit, when operated in the two regions
	the wt-off region and saturation region whereby
	at the wt-off region, M is connected to N
	causing base bias voltage to be zero, and thus
· 10(b)	No flow of the base wright. $I_{c} = \beta \cdot I_{B}$, the collector
	wrent will also be zero, and bence the transistor
	will remain in the off state.
	At the saturation region: the terminal M is
	connected to L, causing the supply voltage to
	provide the base bias voltage, which is enough
	to cause the flow of base current and hence
1	collector current will be maximum. here a transistor
	is turned on and acts as a closed switch.
106	In the transfer characteristic of an operational
L	amplifier is a plot of the output voltage to
	the input voltage of the operational amplifier

10()	(ii) The transper characteristic of the
	Non-inverting operational amplifier, which
	produces output voltage in phase with the
	input voltage.
	۷۵۵۲ 4
	Vmax=tUs
	Y'm
	$V_{max}=-V_{c}$
	↓

Extract 10.2: A sample of the good responses in Paper 1

Extract 10.2 shows that the candidate was competent in the concepts of semiconductors, transistors and OP amp since he/she was neat and precise in providing the correct responses to almost all parts of the question.

2.2 131/2 Physics 2

The paper contained six (6) questions set from six topics. The topics are Fluid Dynamics, Vibrations and Waves, Properties of Matter, Electrostatics, Electromagnetism and Atomic Physics. Each question carried 20 marks. The pass mark for each question was 7 marks and above.

2.2.1 Question 1: Fluid Dynamics

This question comprised four parts: (a), (b), (c) and (d). Part (a) required the candidates to state two factors that determine the magnitude of viscous force. In part (b), the candidates were required to identify two limitations and three importance of applying Stoke's law in fluid motion. In part (c), it was given that a venture meter consists of two identical wide tubes A and B connected by a narrow tube C. The liquid enters through the wide tube A, and after passing through the narrow tube C leaves through the other wide tube B. The entire arrangement was as shown in the following figure.



The candidates were required to use Bernoulli's theorem at points 1 and 2 to show that the expression for the rate of flow of the liquid is given by

$$Q = A_1 A_2 \sqrt{\frac{2gh}{A_1^2 - A_2^2}}$$
, where all symbols carry their usual meaning.

Part (d) required the candidates to calculate the initial speed with which the water (i) flows from the orifice and (ii) strikes the ground if the plug of area 10^{-4} m² is removed by the orifice on the side bottom of the cylindrical tank of radius 1 m resting on a platform 5 m high and initially filled with water to a height of 5 m.

A total of 16,994 candidates corresponding to 99.7 per cent attempted this question. Their scores were as follows: 10.9 per cent scored from 0 to 6.5 marks; 21.1 per cent scored from 7 to 11.5 marks; and 68 per cent scored from 12 to 20 marks. Figure 11 portrays the performance of the candidates on this question.



Figure 11: Distribution of candidates' scores on Question 1 in Paper 2

Figure 11 shows that the general performance of the candidates on this question was good since 89.1 percent of the candidates scored 7 to 20 marks.

The candidates who scored good marks (68.0%) correctly stated two factors on which the magnitude of viscous force depends. Also they identified two limitations and three importance of applying Stokes' law in fluids motion. In addition, most of them studied the venture meter diagram and used Bernoulli's theorem to analyse an expression for the rate of fluid flow. The correct responses given by the candidates signify that they understood the content and they were knowledgeable about the Fluid Dynamics. Extract 11.1 shows a sample of correct responses.

1	9. from
1	Visious force (F)= 6TTrnV
	Hence;
	Factors determining magnitude a notous force are
	(i) Radius of a body.
	(ii) Terminal velocity with whith it is felling
	(iii) Nature of fluid.
	(b) Limitation's of stokes's law are :-
	(i) A body must be falling in a fluid
	of infinite extends
	(ii) A spherical body falling must be smooth
	and n'gid
	(11) A body must fall with relchuoly high
	speed.
	Emportance of applying stokes' law are :-
	(i) It is useful in militan experiment
	when studying about charge -
	(iii) It explains why large rain drops
	harts more than small rain drops on hitting
	(iii) It is useful in determining the radius
	of vanous uppenced bodiles,
	(c) soluhon
	Consider, a venturemeter below
-	P T B
	-1
	- V - 2 V2 An
	A C
	Б ,

1	where
	PI and BE are pressure at mide type and parent
	tube respectively i
	As and As are areas at wide pube and
	nanow type respectively.
	VI and Ve are relacines of mide habe and
	na now type respectively.
	h is cheight difference between two pube
	then
	From Berroulli's paughori'
	Pi + 3h,9 + 1/2 + Vi2 = P2 + 3h29 + 1/2 + 1/2 + 1/2
	but Fron honizontal tube
	$h_1 = h_2 = h_1$
	$P_1 + Y_2 + Y_1^2 = P_2 + \frac{1}{2} $
	Alia
	From equation of continuity
	$\varphi = A_1 \vee_1 = A_2 \vee_2 \cdot$
	$V_2 = A_1 V_1 (ni).$
	A2
	$\frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}$
	$F_1 = F_2 = \frac{3}{3} \frac{3}{2} \frac{3}{2} \frac{3}{2} - \frac{6}{3} \frac{3}{2}$
	$\frac{OP}{2} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\sqrt{2} + \sqrt{2} \right) = - \left(\sqrt{2} \right)$
	Enserting equebra (ii) into (iii)
	$\Delta P = 1 - ((A V_1)^2 - V_1^2)$
	$\Delta P = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{9}{4} V_1^2 \left(\frac{A_1^2}{4} - 1 \right)$
	9/50
	$\Delta P = 3hg$.
	tien.
	$3hg = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}(A_1^2 - A_2^2)}$
	$A = A_2^2$
	$V_1^2 = 2gh \cdot A_2^2$
	$A_1^2 - A_2^2$
	$V_1 = A_2 \left[2ch \right]$
	A 12 - A22
	AL DE ELLES ELLES
	Also from equeron & onthusing
	$Q \equiv A V = V$
	Then interting pructure (1) into (V)
	we get
	$Q = A_1 A_2 \qquad 2gh$
	$A_1^2 - A_2^2$
	where Q is Rate of flow a liquid'
	At is grea at mile Nebe
1 E - 1 E	Az is area at nomon tubo
	h is height difference
	9 is geologial i la i
	ha il
	lience sheuni

Extract 11.1: A sample of the correct responses to Question 1 in Paper 2

The responses in Extract 11.1 show the candidates' ability in applying Bernoulli's and continuity equations to express the formula $Q = A_1 A_2 \sqrt{\frac{2gh}{A_1^2 - A_2^2}}$. Also in part (d) he/she applied Torricelli's theorem to

obtain the correct answers.

A further analysis of the candidates' responses reveals that most of the candidates with weak (10.9%) performance had insufficient knowledge of the subtopic *Bernoulli's principle, Streamline flow and continuity*. Some of them had misconceptions such that they applied the concepts of *Properties of Matter* to answer part (a) of the question. As a result, they failed to derive an expression for the rate of fluid flow in part (c) and determine the initial speed with which water flows from the orifice and the speed it strikes the ground in part (d). The observed difficulty stems from their failure to understand that the venture meter was horizontal such that the liquid flow was horizontal ($h_1 = h_2$). In addition, they failed to identify appropriate formulae in solving problems. Some of the candidates applied Stoke's law instead of Torricelli's theorem and continuity equation ended with incorrect responses. All these responses indicate the candidates' inadequate knowledge of the tested concepts. Extract 11.2 indicates a sample of the incorrect responses.

Extract 11.2: A sample of the incorrect responses to Question 1 in Paper 2

In Extract 11.2, the candidate used Stoke's law to provide incorrect responses to part (a) and (b). In part (c) and (d), he/she failed to apply Bernoulli's theorem.

2.2.2 Question 2: Vibrations and Waves

Part (a) required the candidates to give the importance of (i) dextro – rotatory substance (ii) laevo-rotatory substance (iii) optically active substance (iv) double refraction in relation to the production of plane polarized light. Part (b) required the candidates to differentiate (i) polaroid from polarimeter (ii) plane of vibration from plane of polarization (iii) ordinary light from plane polarized light. In part (c), they were required to describe the construction of Nicol Prism. Part (d) required them to briefly explain the observations made with regard to the formation of fringes in Newton's ring experiment when (i) the glass plate is silvered, (ii) the sodium lamp is replaced by a white light, (iii) a few drops of a transparent liquid are introduced between the lens and the plate. In part (e), they were asked to give two factors that govern the radius of the ring in Newton's ring experiment.

The question was attempted by 7,270 candidates, which corresponds to 42.7 per cent. The analysis of data reveals that 91.1 per cent of the candidates scored from 0 to 6.5; 8.1 per cent scored from 7 to 11.5 and only 0.8 per cent scored from 12 to 20 marks. The data are presented in Figure 12.



Figure 12: Distribution of the candidates' scores on Question 2 in Paper 2

Figure 12 shows that 91.1 percent of the candidates scored from 0 to 6.5 marks, which shows that the general performance of the candidates on this question was weak. The data indicates that most of the candidates skipped this question. However, 91.1 per cent of the candidates who scored 0 to 6.5 marks provided incorrect responses with a lot of grammatical errors. For

instance, in part (b), one candidate wrote ordinary light *as a light which is not polarized* while plane polarized light *is a light which they have been polarized*. This suggests that they had inadequate knowledge of the topic of *Vibrations and Waves* especially about the polarization derived from physical optics. Extract 12.1 illustrates an incorrect response.

2: 12 il and ut a motal para ad unthe
- a pour a pre meral guas or a when
united with parallel line Mule fate meter
the solution of the second states of the second sta
Van instrument unun a uted reaute
Obanation to occurs
11 Plane of Subrition - Canbed afred as y
Culture of antal 12-10 literia 10 in
Surface or meral plant union laute
Elimition of bund to seems while prone
of Onlyinghton the setal place oration
polandarion in picta plate y (up)
unul could polarration porque
,
wil Orange light carps defred as about
unin u not polarred unue pare
Danged light Halight mulit
the last have the
hey have been jolaned
Call Alexand Anon use the place alexand
- , , , , coi pran use me prane grass
rods to inject the incident ships and
the incident of Plant to the
in accession rays i equee to one
directeon
an a share
aut refrect 1
indered mys
tuen after durching the needest raws
tuen after durching the needent rays
then after directing the needent rays tothe bipnim he attere that the some
tuen after durching the medent rays tothe bipnim he diserve that the some vary passes tothe bipnim unde ofnes
tuen after directing the needent rays tothe bipping he disterve that the some vary parter to the bipping where of these
then offer directing the needent rays tothe bipnim he deserve that the some vary passes to the bipnim while of these reflected back.
tuen after durching the needeer rays tothe bipping he diserve that the some vary parter to the bipping while of these reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection
then after directing the needent rays tothe bipping he bittere that the some vary panes to the bipping while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to open in the buildary
twen after durching the medent rays tothe bipnim he diserve that the some ray pases to the biptim while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in Fint of instance
tuen after directing the needent rays tothe bipnim he diserve that the some vary parter to the bipsim while ofnes reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in front ora ituitare
twen after duriching the incident rays to the bipping he blower put the some vary passes to the bipping while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in front or instance Til Sodium lamp is related for a white light
tuen offer durching the needeer rays tothe bipping he diserve that the some vary passes to the bipping while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in Font or ifuldare. Til Sodium lamp is replaced by author light
the office duriching the medent rays to the bipping he before that the some ray passes to the bipping while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in fort or instance if Sodium lamp to replaced by a white light because lamp when white light such
then offer directing the needeer rays tothe bipping he bigues that the some vary passes to the bigues while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in Bent of itsidare. If Sodium lamp is replaced by a white light because lamp when white light is used the red light y observed of a centre value
tuen offer directing the needeer rays tothe bippin he diserve that the some vary passes to the bipsin while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in Font of instance if Sodium lamp is replaced by autite light because lamp when white light such of the red light of the observed of a contre while the white white is observed of a contre while
twen after durching the needent rays to the bipping he discove that the some ray passes to the bipping while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in Fint oth childre. If Sodium lamp is replaced by author light because lamp when white light is used the red light is observed at a centre while the unite light is observed amond the
tuen ofter directing the needest rays tothe bipping he diserve that the some vary passes to the bipping while ofness reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in Font of instance if Sodium lamp is replaced by a white light because lamp when white light is used the red light is observed at a contre white fue white light is observed command free centre
the office directing the needent rays to the bipping he directing the intertorne vary passes to the bipping intuite offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in front or instance if Sodium lamp to replaced by a white light because lamp when white light is used the viel light is observed at a contre white the unite light is observed or around free centre
twen offer directing the needeer rays tothe bipping he discree that the some vary passes to the bipping while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in Bent or it replaced by a white light because lamp threplaced by a white light because lamp when white light such the vied light y observed at a consecutive the white light is observed . around the centre
the office directing the needent rays to the bipnim he observe that the some vary passes to the bipsim while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in front officiate if Sodium lamp & replaced by a white light because lamp when white light is used the vied light y observed at a contre white the unite light is observed for a mind the centre
twen offer durching the needent rays tothe bipping he deserve that the some ray passes to the bipping while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in Bont of instance. If Sodium lamp is replaced by a white light because lamp when white light is used the red light is observed at a centre vilue the unite light is observed and control free centre
twen after durching the medent rays to the bipnim he deserve that the some very passes to the bipsim while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in font on ituitare Til Sodium lamp it replaced by a white light because lamp when white light is used the ved light is observed at a centre while the unite light is observed at a centre while the centre till in order to allow the reflection of the light of allow the reflection of
twen after durching the needent rays to the bipping he discove that the some ray passes to the bipping while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in Bont of instance. If Sodium lamp 4 replaced by author light because lamp when white light is used the red light is observed at a centre while the white light is observed a contre while the centre allow the reflection of light when fall in the plane and theles.
twen offer directing the needeet rays tothe bipping he diserve that the some vary passes to the bipping while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in First or if it date. Til Sodium lamp & replaced by a white light because lamp when white light such the ved light is observed at a cance while the white light is observed . around the centre Til in order to allow the reflection of light when fall in the plane and theless.
twen after durching the incedent rays to the bipping he diserve that the some ray passes to the bipping while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in front or instance if Sodium lamp threeland by awhite light because lamp when white light is used the vied light is observed at a contre while the white light is observed at a contre while the contre in front of allows the reflection of light when fall in the plane and theless.
twen offer directing the needeer rays tothe bipping he discove that the some vary passes to the bipping while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in Bent of itsidare. if Sodium lamp is replaced by a white light because lamp when white light is used the red light is observed at a case while the white light is observed commadive centre
twee after directing the incident rays to the bipping he differe that the some ray passes to the bipping while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in front or in thistore the course lamp when white light because lamp when white light is used the wed light is observed at a centre while the white light is observed and the centre iii/ in order to allow the reflection of light when fall in the plane and theless. est if when diffunce between the lenst and
twen offer directing the needent rays to the bipping he directing the intertering ray passes to the bipping while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in Bont of instance. if Sodium lamp is replaced by a white light because lamp when white light is used free red light is observed at a centre while the white light is observed and the centre iii) in order to allow the reflection of light when fall in the plane and theless. (e) if a the distance between the lenst and
then after directing the incident rays to the bipping he differe that the some vary passes to the higher intuite of these reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in front or is instance Till Sodium lamp & replaced by a white light because lamp when white light is used the vied light y observed at a contre white the unite light is observed command fre centre iii/ in order to allow the reflection of light when fall in the plane and theless. es if after distance between the lenst and honzonthe plate
twen after directing the incodent rays to the bipnim he Diserve that the some ray pases to the bipsim while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in Bent of it it it is a substance if Sodium lamp it replaced by author light because lamp when white light is used frie wed light is observed at a centre while frie unite light is observed a mund the centre iii/ in order to allow the reflection of light when fall in the plane and theless. est if a further allow the light and the furthers. III is order to allow the reflection of light when fall in the plane and the furthers. est if a further and furthers here the last and homomorphi plate
twen offer directing the needeer rays to the bipping he directing the intersome vary passes to the bipping while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in Port of itselfare Till Sodium lamp & replaced by a white light because lamp when white light such the vied light y observed at a conse while the white light is observed . around the centre itill in order to allow the reflection of light when fall in the plane and therew. . es if when distance between the lenst and homeontal plate
twen after directing the incodent rays to the bipping he diserve that the some ray passes to the bipping while offices reflected back. (d) If this is because to avoid the reflection to occurs in front officiate the course lamp when white light because lamp when white light is used the viel light is observed at a contre while the white light is observed at a contre while the white light is observed and contre while the white light is observed and contre while the white light is observed on and the centre in light when fall in the plane and theless. . We illustrate between the loss and homomorphy plate

Extract 12.1: A sample of the incorrect responses on Question 2 in Paper 2

Extract 12.1 shows incorrect responses from a candidate who failed to describe the construction of Nicol Prism. Thus, he/she provided incorrect responses to other parts of the question.

In contrast, the candidates with good performance (0.8%) on this question demonstrated an adequate knowledge of the topic of *Vibrations and Waves*. This is evident in their responses on the concept of polarisation in parts (a), (b) and (c). Besides, they gave factors which govern the radius of the ring in Newton's ring experiment and explained the observations made with regard to the formation of fringes. Extract 12.2 is a sample of the candidates' good responses.

02	2) al. 2) Dextro-rotatory substance and Importance
	in polarizing light which is p making artisin angle
	other than 900
	Til La evo-rotation substance la Important in
	Polarizing light hight from pointallel my
	iii) Optically active substance are substance which
	are very adove to the light
	W Double refraction la Importance in producing
	polanzed Light; by allowing only O-ray to pass
	as polarized light.
02	differ the along plate is selvered on the front surface
	there will be no Engration of Frigada.
	iii 12 indian time to replaced by white light
	The bigger formed will appear as white if the
	Corbal part fillowed by Cilpard back which an
	Post and Rhun
	Nos and Shar
	Til 1 P. Jone we labored reprofix index of
	Lion of down will be considered, hence homes with
	will been to
	will interface
	el free free free production for the production of the productio
	C In - mar
	L'I Defense chan
	(1) Adai us grass

Extract 12.2: A sample of the candidate's good responses to Question 2 in Paper 2

In Extract 12.2, the candidate managed to use the concept of physical optics to provide the correct responses to parts (a), (d) and (e).

2.2.3 Question 3: Properties of Matter

Part (a) of this question required the candidates to explain why (i) the rise of liquid is affected if the top of the capillary tube is closed and (ii) rain drops are spherical in shape. In part (b), they were required to (i) explain why brick walls are plastered with cement and (ii) calculate the true pressure difference in a barometer containing two uniform capillary tubes of radii 6.5×10^{-4} m and 1.24×10^{-3} m if the height of water in a narrow tube is 0.2 m more than that in a wide tube. Part (c) required the candidates to (i) give the meaning of surface tension and its S.I Units and (ii) calculate the ratio of the total surface energy of the 64 drops to that of a single drop when 64 rain drops combined into a single drop.

The question was attempted by 16,927 candidates, equivalent to 99.3 per cent. The distribution of their scores is shown in Figure 13.



Figure 13: Distribution of candidates' scores on Question 3 in Paper 2

Figure 13 shows that 71.4 per cent of the candidates scored from 0 to 6.5 marks, 23.6 per cent scored from 7 to 11.5 marks while 5 per cent scored marks ranging from 12 to 20 marks.

The statistical analysis indicates that the overall performance on this question was weak because more than a half (71.4%) of the candidates scored below average (< 7 mark). However, among them, 4.5 per cent, equivalent to 761 candidates, scored 0 marks. These candidates lacked basic knowledge of surface tension. Their responses indicated that they failed to describe and analyse surface tension in terms of molecular theory and surface energy respectively. Another observed challenge was the failure to identify the applications of capillarity which could help them in responding

correctly to most parts of the question. Extract 13.1 shows a sample of the incorrect responses.

g. (a) co the wse hauid 15 appected # the top capillanty there 6.5×10-4 radet 15 est closed. Dr OF pressure esternal wil e no since applied capillanty to the tube (a) (ii cpherical drops shape ain in an Elize She Hruction betuea op Fren theta strong ro ecules which and enough together. hold mdeuler alastered with valle are cemen 50 ar Houchan Letween the increase the tore brick walls molecules ac. conent an 3 (6)(1) Solution -6.5× 10-4m Raduit (r) Radius, (12) = 1.24 × 10 m Height 0.2m difference. to Find : The Rescue Requirec rom-1172 DP= 8 FZ DP = TTrz TTr2 2 (b) (ii) BP = 14. TTy2 11 12 AP = + 2 11 NP = 0.2 6.5+10-4 ·24×10-3 3.14 0.2×932 DP= 3.14 $DP = 46.62 \text{ N/m}^2$ 46.62 N/m2 Pressure difference = . • • True

Extract 13.1: A sample of the incorrect responses to Question 3 in Paper 2

In Extract 13.1, the candidate applied the incorrect formula to find a true pressure difference. He/she also provided responses to other parts which not meet the demands of the question.

Although the candidates showed weak performance on this question, 5.0 per cent scored good marks (12 - 20). They had an adequate knowledge of the topic of *Properties of Matter*. These candidates assessed the phenomena that result from liquid surface tension. In addition, they derived expressions which helped them to determine the true pressure difference and the ratio of total surface energy.

A further analysis on the responses reveals that most of the candidates who scored average marks (7 - 11.5) skipped part (b) (ii) and (c) (ii) due to poor mathematical skills. Extract 13.2 is a sample of the good responses.

(03))	(i) When the top of the capillary tube is cloped, there is a pressure
<u> </u>	created (downward pressure) which which which the rule of the fluid (ligitia).
	The pressure created is against the adhesive tones between the liquid and
	container.
	(1) Raindrops are optencial because of rurface thermining - Decause they are
	under the force of surface tension, they tend to take the shape with the
	minimum surface area to minimize surface tension, and the shape with
	minimum surface Greg is the spherical shape.
3.0	(i) Bridks have fine pores through which water can enter a house,
	Plastening with cement blocks the fine pores hence proventing the entry of
	Wrater into the house. Hence Therefore bricks are plastered to inhibit the
-	capillary action due to the mall porce in bricks.
30	$dD r = 6.5 \times 10^{-4}.$
	$r_2 = 1.24 \times 10^{-3}$
	PLS 0:2~ 100
	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
	65×104 1:24×103 m.
	from $h = 28 \cos \Theta$
	Pro Pro
	tressure difference = (Pa+Phg) - Pa'
	But including excess pressures:-
	$= \left(P_A + P_{Lg} + 2\mathbf{I} \right) - \left(P_B + 2\mathbf{I} \right) .$

- 19 ()	Where T = Water rutace tennion.
	R-Tube radius
	But Pa = Pa = Amemberi pre-uvre-
	tor IA - R - maspere preserve
	$\Lambda P = P + P + 2X - P - 2T$
	$\Delta f = p_A + f(g) = p_A = 2f$
	H ~2.
	$= \ln g + 2\mu - 2\eta$
	1 12
	$\Delta P = PL_g + 2T(\underline{1} - \underline{1}).$
	(R R)
	$=(1000 \times 02 \times 9.8) + 2 \times 0.072 (1 $
	(6:5X107 1.24×10)
	sterval presivre difference is 2065.408 Pa.
&C) (D)	Surrace tension is the unit force per unit length acting tangentially
	on a line (maiginary) drawn on the surface (meniscus) of the
	Itquid.
	$82f_{1} = N_{1} = Nm^{-1}$
	⊢ ′m
	The S-I unit is Newton per metre (Nm ⁻¹).
LC) (1)	n=64·
	$n_{2} = 1$
	C = Wd = XOA
	$= \gamma \partial A_{1}$
	$\frac{1541}{64} \frac{64}{4} \frac{4}{11} \frac{17^3}{17^3} = \frac{4}{12} \frac{112^3}{12}$
	$64^2 - 2^3$
	· R=4v
	$M = 0.079 (411 r^2) \times 64$
	mx11
	Why= 0.072 (4172).
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	Warrill = 0.072×64×411r2 = 64r2
	Whig 0:072× 41TR2, R2
	But R24r.
	Norall - 64r2.
	Voiz (9+)2

Extract 13.2: A sample of the good responses to Question 3 in Paper 2

In Extract 13.2, the candidate correctly explained the observations and analysed the tested concepts. Moreover, he/she applied appropriate formulae and appropriately manipulated the data to obtain the correct answer.

2.2.4 Question 4: Electrostatics

Part (a) of the question required the candidates to (i) give the meaning of capacitance and relative permittivity and (ii) calculate the capacitance of a pair of parallel plates 0.1 m by 0.1 m with an air gap of 5 mm. In part (b), the candidates were required to (i) state the meaning of Van de Graaff generator and (ii) calculate the minimum radius of the spherical shell in a Van de Graaff generator of shell electrode at 25×10^5 V if the dielectric strength of the gas surrounding the electrode is 5×10^7 V/m. Part (c) required the candidates to (i) state Coulomb's law of forces and (ii) find the force acting on an electron and its acceleration if it has travelled 20 mm from rest when placed in a uniform electric field of field strength 1.2×10^5 Vm⁻¹.

The question was attempted by 16,409 candidates, equivalent to 96.3 per cent. Among them, 21.6 per cent scored from 0 to 6.5 marks, 20.5 per cent scored from 7 to 11.5 marks and 57.9 per cent scored from 12 to 20 marks. Figure 14 summarizes the results.



Figure 14: Distribution of the candidates' scores on Question 4 in Paper 2

Figure 14 shows that the general performance on this question was good since 78.4 per cent of them passed the question.

The analysis indicated that the candidates who scored from 7 to 20 marks managed to explain the terms *capacitance* and *relative permitivity*. They also applied the correct formula to find the capacitance of a pair of parallel plate capacitor in part (a). In part (b) and (c), most of them managed to

describe a Van de Graaff generator and Coulomb's law of forces. The good performance of these candidates was attributed to their understanding of the demands of the question and enough competence in the concepts of Electric potential and Capacitance. Extract 14.1 is a sample of the good responses.

4. a) i) capacitance is the ability of a capacitor
to there electric charges.

$$Q = cV$$

 $C = Q$, C -capaciton e
 C_{0}
 C

$E = 2 \cdot 1$
4TEOR R
E = V
F
$r = 25 \times 10^5 V$
5×107 Vm
$\Gamma = 0.05 \text{m}$
\cdot Radius, $r = 0.05m$.
4 c) i) coulomb's law states that " Electrostatic for
of anraction or repulsion between two poi
charges is directly proportional to the
product of magnitudes of their charge
and inversely proportional to the
square of their distance apart
$\frac{1 \text{hat is, } F \propto 9192}{1 \text{ lnat is, } F \propto 9192}$
F a V
· F 2
$F \propto Q_1 Q_2$
$F = HQ_1Q_2$
<u>F2</u>
$F = 1$ $Q_1 Q_2$
ATTERET 12
ii) (Tryon:
$F = 1.2 \times 10^5 \text{ V/m}$
F = 1
q = 7
$Me = Q_1 \times 10^{-31} Ira$
$e = 1.6 \times 10^{-19} c$
from, $ef = mq$
q = eE
m
$= 1.6 \times 10^{12} \times 1.2 \times 10^{5} \text{ V/m}$
9.1 × 10-31 179
= 2.10989011 X 1076 m/s ²

4.	But, force, $F = eE$
	$= 1.6 \times 10^{-19} \text{ c} \times 1.2 \times 10^{5} \text{ V/m}$
	= 1.92 × 10-14 N
	a
	$Force, F = 1.92 \times 10^{-14} N$
	$Acceleration, q = 2.10989011 \times 10^{16} m/s^2$.

Extract 14.1: A sample of the good responses to Question 4 in Paper 2

Despite the good performance on this question, 21.6 per cent of the candidates showed insufficiency knowledge of the topic *Electrostatics*. They failed to give the meaning of capacitance, relative permitivity and Van de Graaff generator besides stating Coulomb's law of forces. For example, one candidate defined *Van de Graaff generator is a type of generator that is used to describe the charge present in the atom*. Others failed to retrieve proper formulae to do calculations. As a result, they failed to deduce the effective capacitance of the parallel capacitor connection and determine the minimum radius of the spherical shell in parts (a) (ii) and (b) (ii) respectively. Also, some of the candidates used unrelated concepts to explain the terms or to state the laws. Nevertheless, in part (c), some of them failed to find the force acting on it and its acceleration. Extract 14.2 shows a sample of the incorrect responses.

4 (9) (11) Formular
provallel aparter = C1+C2
= 0.2
$Ceel = C_1 + C_2$
5×10-3- 01+011
5x1073 = 0.2
5×10-3 5×10-3
C = 40
(b) Solution
Data aven
Pattentia Arterence > 2 5x 15 V
helectric strength = 5x107v/m
Minimum David = Required
(a minute) [approx - [].



Extract 14.2: A sample of the incorrect responses to Question 4 in Paper 2

2.2.5 Question 5: Electromagnetism

This question consisted of four parts: (a), (b), and (c). Part (a) required the candidates to (i) distinguish between diamagnetic, paramagnetic and ferromagnetic materials based on the relative permeability μ_r (ii) give the meaning of intensity of magnetization I for a paramagnetic material and use Curie's law to show how it relates with the absolute temperature (T). Part (b) required the candidates to (i) explain why the material used for making the core of a transformer should have a narrow hysteresis loop and (ii) find the relative permeability, susceptibility, and the permeability of a specimen of iron which is uniformly magnetized by the magnetizing field of 300 Am⁻¹ and producing the magnetic flux density of 0.4 Wbm⁻². In part (c), it was given that two parallel co-axial circular coils of equal radius R and number of turns *N*, carrying equal currents *I* in the same direction and separated by

a distance *R*. The candidates were required to show that $B = 0.72 \frac{\mu_o NI}{R}$, where *B* is the field on the axis around the mid-point between the coils which is uniformly distributed over a distance that is small as compared to R and μ_o is the permeability of free space.

The data indicate that 10,944 candidates, equivalent to 64.2 per cent, attempted the question. Among them, 72.5 per cent scored from 0 to 6.5 marks; 16 per cent scored from 7 to 11.5 marks; and 11.5 per cent scored from 12 to 20 marks. The data are summarized in Figure 15.



Figure 15: Distribution of candidates' scores on Question 5 in Paper 2

The statistical data in Figure 15 show that the majority of the candidates (72.5%) scored below 7.0 marks. This implies that the general performance on this question is weak.

The analysis indicated that the candidates who scored low marks (72.5%) failed to distinguish diamagnetic, paramagnetic and ferromagnetic materials based on relative permeability. The reason was lack of knowledge and failure to adhere to the demands of the question. Some candidates defined the terms based on magnetic properties instead of relative permeability. Others failed to use Curie's law to show how the intensity of magnetisation is related to absolute temperature.

A further analysis reveals that, among the 72.5 per cent of the candidates who scored 0 to 6.5 marks, 34 per cent, equivalent to 3,716 candidates scored 0 marks. These candidates completely lacked the knowledge of magnetic properties of materials. Therefore, they provided incorrect responses to all parts of the question. For example, in part (b), they failed to interpret the hysteresis loop and applied incorrect formulae to find the relative permeability and susceptibility of the specimen. Extract 15.1 is illustrative.

Intensity of magnetization: This is the ratio 50 magnetoc glux & the between magnetozoug denosty He and of a material force Thus Intensota Again: - From lune law V= MRI Mr 50 & brainequetoc material: This are the material which have zero relative permitability and hence they are not altracted by 5.6) C+ The materials used for making the of the core transformer should have the norrow hysteres material which because the have the narrow hysterists have the large magnetizo with respect to the magnetizing force help for the hence 74 step up or step dow voltage in a train spomer. the Consoders-24 Soft core & trons H 5.(6) ii) folution. bata goven. Magnetic plux density Magnetizing peld 0.4 Wb M-2. B= J/2 = 300 Am -2 Relative permitability Mr = ? fusces ptobloty =? X 1 Permisability of the specimen, 4=) From Relative penniability Mr = H Wob Maz Mr= 0.4 300 +1-1 Mr= 1.33 x 10-3 Wbm-3 x-1 - The relative permeability is 1.33 x 103 Mibris

Agains 5B) Pr-1)B. -Hemi Maquetoc asscerts with Plr-1 H 1-33×15-1-1)× -6.4 300 1-33156×103 he magnetic susceptib The ty of 1-33156x 10-2 Again Reas Venuvability Specomen Relative permiats miast - Tien: emicholoty of specamen 495× 157. HM-I 1.6 7x107 2 The HMO 1.67×159 remiability specimien

Extract 15.1: A sample of the poor responses to Question 5 in Paper 2

In contrast, the few (11.5%) candidates who scored good marks showed a good understanding of the basic terms used in *Electromagnetism*. These candidates were familiar with the magnetic properties of materials since they correctly described the terms and applied the correct formula and procedures to provide responses per the demands of the question. Extract 15.2 is a sample of the correct responses.

5	(a) (i) Diamagnetic materials are the materials
	whose relative permeability (Mr) is slightly
	less than one (1) (Hr < 1).
	. WHILE
	Paramagnetic Materials are the magnetic
	Materials whose relative permoability is slightly
	greater than one (1) (4->1)
	WATILE 1
	Feromagnetic materials are the magnetic
	materials whose relative permeability is very
	large greater than one (Hr = 1000, 2000, 1500.)



Extract 15.2: A sample of the correct responses to Question 5 in Paper 2

2.2.6 Question 6: Atomic Physics

This question had five parts: (a), (b), (c), (d), and (e). Part (a) required the candidates to differentiate (i) Ionization energy from excitation energy and (ii) Ionization potential from excitation potential. Part (b) required the candidates to (i) state Bohr's frequency condition, (ii) explain why a very thin gold foil is used in Rutherford's α – particle scattering experiment and (iii) compute the orbital radius and the velocity of electron in a hydrogen atom when energy of -2.2×10^{-18} J is required to separate hydrogen atom into a proton and an electron. In part (c), they were required to explain the meaning of (i) Binding energy curve (ii) Nuclear Mass (iii) Nuclear reaction and (iv) Artificial radioactivity as applied in atomic and nuclear

Physics. Part (d) required the candidates to find the (i) number of K-40 atoms in the sample and (ii) half-life of K-40 when the activity of 1.6 mg of radioactive potassium chloride (chloride of isotope K-40) was found to be 180 s⁻¹ taking molar mass of K-40 Cl to be 0.075 kgmol⁻¹. In part (e), they were required to find how long can an electric lamp of 200 W be kept glowing by fusion of 3.0 kg of deuterium given that the fusion reaction taking place is ${}_{1}^{2}H+{}_{1}^{2}H \rightarrow {}_{2}^{3}He+{}_{0}^{1}n+3.27$ MeV.

A total of 16,647 (97.7%) candidates responded to the question and their performance is illustrated in Figure 16.



Figure 16: Distribution of candidates' scores on Question 6 in Paper 2

Figure 16 shows, that 47.4 per cent of the candidates scored from 7 to 20 marks while 52.6 per cent scored below 7 marks. Thus, the performance on this question was average.

Most of the candidates who performed well (10.0%) had a good understanding of the concepts tested. In part (a), they correctly differentiated Ionization energy and Ionization potential from excitation energy and excitation potential respectively. In part (b), they clearly stated Bohr's frequency condition and the reason why a very thin gold foil is used in Rutherford's α – particle scattering experiment. However, some of them failed to compute the orbital radius and the velocity of electron in a hydrogen atom. The candidates also demonstrated their competence in part (c), (d) and (e); they gave the meaning of the tested terms and applied the correct formulae to obtain the correct answers. Extract 16.1 shows parts of the good responses.

6	a) 1) Ionization energy is the energy required to					
	remove an electron (especially most loosely					
	bound) outside its nuclear influence					
	whereas excitation energy is the energy					
	required to cause a promotion to an					
	electron from its lower ground state to					
	any of its respective higher state					
	11) lonization potential is the potential required to remove an electron from its nuclear influence white excitation potential is the potential required to cause a promotion of an electron from its lower ground state to any of its respective higher state.					
	b) 1) Bohi's frequency condition states that " only frequency corresponding to the difference in frequencies botween two energy states will cause a promotion"					
	$E_2 - E_1 = h f .$					
	$h_{f,2} - h_{f_1} = h_f$					
	$b(f_2 - f_1) = bF_1$					
	1(323)					
	$f_2 - f_1 = f$					
6	ii) A thin gold toil is used because the target					
	x-particle has to face perpendicularly only					
	a single atom in the fail, so that they					
	can penetrate easily through the other					
	Stde.					
	1) Given: Durgestun energy, E =- 7.7 × 10-18 J. , Z=1					
	from, $E_T = -Ze^2$					
	SILEOL					
	$-7.7 \times 10^{-19} \text{ J} = -(1) \times (1.6 \times 10^{-19} \text{ c})^{2}$					
	817 X 8.854 X 10-12 Fm-1 X r					
	$r = 5.329231964 \times 10^{-11} \text{m}$					
	filso, MVr = nh					
--------	--	--	--	--	--	--
	হা					
	v = nh					
211.WL						
	$= 1 \times 6.626 \times 10^{-34}$ Js 7					
	211 (9.1×10-31×9)× 5.2292×10-11 m					
	$= 22 6 38\cdot 17m s$					
	$R_{qdius,r} = 5.229231964 \times 10^{-11} \mathrm{m}$					
	velocity, v = 2216138.117 m/s					

Extract 16.1: A sample of the good responses to Question 6 in Paper 2

In the contrast, the candidates who demonstrated weak performance (52.6%) lacked knowledge of the Structure of the atom and Nuclear Physics. Most of them failed to retrieve and summarize the main components of Bohr's model of atom. Consequently, they failed to state Bohr's frequency condition or to determine the orbital radius and velocity of electron in a hydrogen atom. A further analysis showed that most of the candidates failed to describe the structure of the nucleus as well as identify the criteria for stable and unstable nuclei. Therefore, they provided incorrect responses about the tested concepts in parts (c), (d), and (e). Extract 16.2 is a sample of the incorrect responses.

66.	Binding energy circle. Is the energy that Is required in the conversion convertion
604	Binding energy curve-to the energy that is required in the convertion of large particle into small particles
- y	Kludea (mass -
τÿ	Nuclear reaction -
- \	Articleal radio divity - & the process of directing rating large particles into the small particles
60	From $A = A_0 e^{-\lambda t}$ $A_0 = t_0 e^{-\lambda t}$ $A_0 = t_0 e^{-\lambda t}$
	$F = 1305''$ $A = A0e^{-3t}$ $A = 16e^{-0.075 \times 1205'}$
	: The number of 12-40 atoms in a sample = 2.193 × 10-9 kg/mol

69	$half lye = t_1 = 0.693$						
	$t_{l} = \sigma \cdot \delta q_{3}$						
	12 0.075						
	t's = 9.24 second						
	: The half lye = 9.24 second						
e.	Power = 200W						
	mass = 3:0kg						
	(H + (H -+ 3 He + 1 n + 3·37.						
	(3·345×10-07)+12(3·345×12) -2(6·647×102)+						
	$(1.675 \times 10^{33}) + 337$						
	-1-1139025 X 2J						
	1.1189025 × 10-53 - 1:4969×10-26+ 3.37.						
	1.1189025 1105 3-1.4969×0-26+ (3.37×1.6x109						
	1.1134025 -5.392×10-13						
	1.1189025 × 3.0						
	200						
	2						
	: 0.016733537 sec						

Extract 16.2: A sample of the poor responses to Question 6 in Paper 2

3.0 ANALYSIS OF CANDIDATES' PERFORMANCE PER TOPIC

The analysis indicates that the candidates had good performance in 3 out of 12 topics that were tested in Physics Paper 1 and 2. These topics are *Fluid dynamics* (89.1%), *Electrostatics* (78.4%) and *Measurement* (69%). They had average performance in six (6) topics of *Electronics* (54.5%), *Environmental Physics* (53.9%), *Mechanics* (52.9%), *Current electricity* (49.2%), *Atomic Physics* (47.4%) and *Heat* (36%). The average performance was contributed by their failure to attempt some parts of the questions, especially those which required critical thinking to assess higher order learning outcomes. Similarly, those with poor mathematical skills failed to analyse and interpret the given data to perform appropriate calculations.

The weak performance was observed in the topics of *Properties of matter* (28.6%), *Electromagnetism* (27.5%) and *Vibrations and waves* (8.9%). Such performance was influenced by the candidates' inadequate knowledge of the examined concepts, provision of incorrect responses in performing

calculations due to incorrect use of formulae and poor mathematical skills. The analysis of the candidates' performance per topic is summarized in Appendices A and B.

4.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

4.1 Conclusion

The analysis of the candidates' performance per question in Physics Papers 1 and 2 for the ACSEE 2020 revealed that most of the candidates answered the questions well. However, some of the candidates faced difficulties in responding to the questions on the topics of Properties of Matter, Electromagnetism; and Vibrations and Waves. Poor performance was due to the following:

(a) Lack of knowledge about various concepts. Some of the candidates provided incorrect responses to the questions. Most of the candidates failed to comprehend the questions due to poor masterly of the subject matter.

(b) Poor background of mathematical skills. Most of the candidates failed to analyse and interpret the given data values for correct procedures and appropriate calculations.

(c) Failure of the candidates to apply appropriate formulae. This challenge was observed among some of the candidates who used incorrect formulae to perform calculations. Others applied the formulae interchangeably, especially in related concepts.

4.2 **Recommendations**

To improve performance of candidates in Physics, particularly in the topics which were poorly performed, the following measures are recommended:

- (a) Teachers should emphasize the use of the polaroid, glass block, light source and Nicol prism for students to demonstrate the production of plane polarized light.
- (b) Teachers should guide students when conducting experiments to determine the wavelength of monochromatic light using Newton's rings methods.
- (c) Teachers should assist students in groups to demonstrate the movement of a charged particle in a uniform magnetic field and

interpret the hysteresis loop for magnetic flux density B and magnetic field intensity H.

- (d) Teachers should encourage students to do effective revision and provide adequate tests and examinations to improve their confidence and ability in answering questions.
- (e) Students should work in groups to describe and demonstrate various phenomenon of surface tension in terms of molecular theory.
- (f) Students should put more effort in reading various Physics books to improve their knowledge about concepts, theories, laws and formulae.

Appendices

Appendix A

THE CANDIDATES' PERFORMANCE IN EACH TOPIC ON THE YEAR 2020



Appendix B

THE CANDIDATES' PERFORMANCE IN EACH TOPIC ON THE YEAR 2020

	Торіс	2020 EXAMINATION PAPER		
S/n.		Number of questions	Percentage of Candidates Who Scored an Average of 35 Percentage or Above	Remarks
1	Fluid Dynamics	1	89.1	Good
2	Electrostatics	1	78.4	Good
3	Measurement	1	69.0	Good
4	Electronics	2	54.5	Average
5	Environmental Physics	1	53.9	Average
6	Mechanics	3	52.9	Average
7	Current Electricity	1	49.2	Average
8	Atomic Physics	1	47.4	Average
9	Heat	2	36.0	Average
10	Properties of Matter	1	28.6	Weak
11	Electromagnetism	1	27.5	Weak
12	Vibrations and Waves	1	8.9	Weak